UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY
207 GIANNINI HALL January 1’ 1944
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Pear Dorothy,

I'm very sorry to hesr of your and husbsnd's illness, but heppy thst
it's 811 over, Flu is laying peopds low in every block but T have been

very ldokiy.

I shall arrive in Berkeley the 19th of Januesry and unless fate
intervenes look forwerd to seeing you that day., ,I have been able to
gét excellent reservations, Unless you advise differently, I plan to
remain in Berkeley only 11 days. (I don't want to stay away from here,)
I really work harder here where there is nothing else to do, which is
why T remained over Christmes, TIncidentally T had a lovely time both
Christmas and New Yesr and have not regretted it in the least, I bhad
8 tremendows Japanese New Year's feat tongght whioh is why I'm sitting
up at 1:00 AT M. and giving it a chance to digest,

I am happy that you approved of the Kirs report. PFor the first
time € felt that T had ge ined some epproximation of & balanced account,
T know exactly where to go now for various ettitudes and am in so well
with the Administretion that I can get the feaots, (and somstimes more
than the facts as the Tule Iake scare besrs witness - I've sti1] not
forgiven Brown,) As sson eg T get them back from pro-Japanese relatives,
(hending sround letters from Tule is an excellent method of building
raprort) I shall send you copies of two exceldent recent letters, which
indieate that no such incident took place, T apologize. Incidentslly
if Yii¢yY¢ anyway of getting into Tule ever is opened T could get wonderful
material., My kibei friends are enormously grateful for my constant
correspondence,

The reworking of the gsegregation report is progréssing nicely,.
I'm becoming mors eritice] thourh and heve decided to redo much of it
o The council report is really subdued, Both will be finishsd
I hope before I leave here this month, The counc il report will exceed
my seégregation report in detail, and T think in ba lance,

Due to illness and overwork T heve not been able to get started on
he sooi at rat 43 2 R
the sooim) stratilioation study, (I1lness and overwork in Mary Obatals

family.) But T now have & definits starting point, the 7,

' Mrs. Kikuchi asks ms to thank you sgain for your gift, She's a swaat
thing and seems qu its we 11 end hapoy, N

Thank you for the New Yesr Wish,

Sincerely yours,

l_,
{ JAG

\/




January 11,1943

Dear Rosalie,

I have been recovering and them relapsing from and into the
flve ever since returning from Chicago. During ny next to last
relapse, the office relapsed also, and I Jjust this minute discovered
that your letters of December 30th and January lst had been filed
without my seeing them at all. I bawled hell out of Morton, who
was, I suspected, the culpsit. But all is forgiven now and I
shall write you a hasty note which I hope you get before you leave.

¥nelosed two items which will interest you. I sent X a
transerint of the Kira record, but not your repot whieh I have not
yet had copied. His comments refer to the paging of our copy,
therefore may not be completely elear to you until you arrive here.
Bring these comments along with you.

Hew crisis with Tamie, who had an offer %o return to Hawaidl.
She is however going back to Poston for the mext few months., Will
discuss the situation when I see you. ‘

I am glad to have my suspkelon,that Brown's wuperconfidential
report on the Tule massacres was skrewy,confirmed. Cauvcasian
rumors are as interesting as evacuee rumors.

I am interested in your observation about stronger sentiment
towards relocation, and hope you can get a¢ the underlying canses.

Re Terry, I should think Wasrhington would have disqualified
him on the basis of the Kira report. Those transeripts are sent
to Washington, aren't they? I can well understand hbw Kira
must have brpoded over that hearings 1 found myself brooding over
it for several days.

Hikida's check has been straizhtened out. It was an
oversightt we are actually "bound"™ to him, I believe, until
September -

See you on the 19ths OK if you want to return in 11 days,

Sincerely yours,




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY

ZO?GIANNINIHALL Fubruary 10, 1944
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Dear Dor obby,

Arrived in Gila late yesterdey with another and far more severe
cold. It poured rain in L. A. and T got soasked, But I turned in
at nine last night and siept the clock around and feel almost ent irely
recovered today. The damn place eagrees with me,

A11 is serene here, 1T shall get comclete data on the Council's
investipgation of Internal Becurity in a few days and serd ik on in
Journal form.

So fer only one remark on thec raft: from a nisei girl "About
80% of the peorle have osnce 11ed their relocatior plans. They figure
why spend money on clothes going out when you're going to get
drafted," (No nisei prejudice intended.,)

Palace politics remain unchanged, TFrry has had pneumonia from
which he hes not yet recovered,

Hell on wheels' Wy secretsry is pregnent or thinks she is
regnant., At present she's a 1ittle under the weather but assures
me thet morning sickness doesn't last long with her. (She hes had
2 stiliborn child.) Well, I have my doubts but I'11 work by myse 1f
8 week and if she stil) feels badly I'1] break in another. She's
pretty strong and very efficient. I shall hate to lose her,

As for Tulelake, I've got 211 my notes types up - they run to
40 pages, Today I'11 begin my report, follswine your instructions,
Bish out the hell if it's not in the style .gou desire, ’

The draft apperrs to have been the only exciting ineident &%
that took plsce during my absence - and it didn't make much stir -
well, to work - to work!

Pest regards from the disloya] research ass,
L}
a IZ_A._ak *
P.S4. Was very glad Temie was
Placate 'gy,

=g Nl T .
n't in Phoenix., I Was in no stete tp

2. (4 -




STATEMENT OF INCOME TAX WITHHELD ON WAGES
Form W-2 By Employer Calendar Year
U.S. TREASURY DEPARTMENT
Internal Revenue Service (EMPLOYEE'S RECEIPT) _1943_

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEE — KEEP THIS RECEIPT — IT IS IMPORTANT

Your employer has withheld a tax from your wages in accordance with the Revenue Act of 1942 and the Current Tax Payment Act of 1943. The amount
the employer has withheld, which he is required to pay to the collector of internal revenue, is shown on this form. This amount should be taken as a
credit against the tax shown in your Income and Victory Tax return for 1943 due to be filed on or before March 15, 1944, If the amount withheld is
larger than your Income and Victory Tax combined, credit or refund of the balance is allowable. This statement is your receipt for the amount of tax
withheld. You mdy be called upon to show it in support of the credit or overpayment. For this reason, you should keep this receipt.

Regardless of whether a tax has been withheld, you are regquired to make an Income and Victory Tax return: If you are single, or married and not living
with husband or wife, and your gross income in ‘1943 is $500 or more, or if you are married and living with husband or wife, and (1) your gross income
in 1043 is more than $624 or (2) you and your spouse each has gross income in 1943 and the combined amount is $1,200 or more. Such return must be
filed not later than March 15, 1944. No refund will be made unless a return is filed.

Copies of the return forms may be obtained from the collector of internal revenue for your district.

INSTRUCTIONS TO EMPLOYEE: This is your receipt for Income Tax (including Victory Tax) withheld. You should keep it for use in preparing your Income
and Victory Tax return for 1943, and as evidence of tax withheld.
Single Married

Employee No. M EMPLOYEE TO WHOM PAID b Social Security No. Wages Paid During |Amount of Income
Calendar Year 1943 | Tax Withheid

XA EC | HARNKEY (ROEAL I 144010 13050
| e e

2614 Etna St
Berkeley Calif

STATEMENT OF
INCOME TAX
WITHHELD ON

WAGES (Print full name of employee, home address, and social security number, if any. 1f employee is 4 married woman, name of husband should also be furnished.)
INSTRUCTIONS TO EMPLOYER

Prepare this form in duplicate for each employee from EMPLOYER UNIVERSI TY OF CALI FORN IA.
whom a tax has been withheld. Furnish original to

employee. Forward duplicate with Return of Income BY WHOM> BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Tax Withheld on Wages, Form W-1, for the fourth pap g

quarter of the year (or with the employer’s final re-

turn, i filed af an earlier date). (See Circular WT.) (Name and address of employer)
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY
207 GIANNINI HALL

BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA Februsry 14, 1944

Dear Dorothy,

The Gilen deys pass with the monotonous serenity dear to the
negrt of the Hindu philosopher. I should not comclain, however,
cfor with the work before me a ceriod without interruption is
Welcome. Unusual quiet might be ominous with any group of people
but the Gilans. Wenta) rigor mortis seems to increase around here.

I have comcleted the rough @raft of my voluminous notes on Tule and
8lmost completed my narrati n of events. These 1ack spunk because T
have not got my guts bsck vet. 1y secretsry is still i11. I shall
therefore attack the task of putting this material into readabile form
for you and send it on immediately. Unless eveéryone who can use a
type-writer &% has relocated, I hope to get some help in at least a
week., T have spurred on by my curiosity as to what X will hsve to
say ebout the matter., To sbet matters, I think I shall send you
two copies,

I have received the box of supclies and the stamps,

I am writing politic letters to my contacts at Tule., This should
be he1pful because coopéd up as they are, their appreciation of outside
correspondence is grest, I have also written to Mary Hashdmoto to
get a definite statement from her as to whether she will type uo the
train 1ists for you, I hope to let you know inside ten days,

827 people are leaving hers for Tulelake, This, I am told by
Terry, is a tremendous amount compared tothe other centers, He asked
mé Why this should be., T replied that since T know 1itt1e about the
other centers I am in no position to say, It is also reported (by Brown)
thaet there hes beena slight inerease in applicat ions for repatriation
and expatriation since the draft notice was issued Things are moving
fast., My friend, lMr. ¥xoaf@8& Kondo has already received his 1A ;
¢lassif ication, '

More news when it makes itse1f menifest,




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY
207 GIANNINI HALL
BERKELEY 4, CALTFORNIA

February 16, 1944

Dear Dorothy,

Enclosed you will find first installment of journal, al1 of
which is Brown's notes which he took for me dur ing my absence, There
is much more to come, Hikida has large stores of socumulated
information to impsrt also. The jounnal ides - from whieh decent 1y
ooncise reports may be made appeals to me inoreasingly.

I have obtained a typist, though I do not know how good she is,

She hopes to have the Tulelake material in shape by the end of the
week,

Please give the encloged osrd to Mis. Wilson, She ®&& onoce

informed me that Evelyn might clsim 8ome of the tax withheld, Wil
she plesse send her instructions?

I shall go to Phoenix in a few days and make reservations to
g0 to Berkeley arriving before the 14 snd and two days to register

and consult with you g0 on to Tule Iake. I osn cancel them if the
situation chenges,

My eold hengs on but gets no worse. If we

had a nice riot or
something, it would probably leave me,

Best regards,




February 16, 1944

Dear Rosalie:

Thanks for your two letters. I certainly look
forward to your report on Tule Lake, and will send a copy
immediately to "X", I do hope you are successful in
getting a stenographer soon.

Your DeWitt report arrived and we are forwarding
it to you., You owe me $3,45,

Both "X" and Jimmy Sakoda are sending illumineting
reports on reactions to the draft. Are you getting much
information as to the situation in Gila? I hope you will
keep me informed in journal form,

Regards from all,

Sincerely yours,

Dorothy Swaline Thomas




February 18, 1944

Dear Rosalie:

I have just run across the enclosed clipping from the
Gila paper and, on Dorothy's advice, am writing you to solicit
your ald in what has been one of the most perplexing problems
of the study,

If you will read the c¢lipping, you will note that
Harry Miyske apparently has some knowledge about why Japanese
settled In certaln sections of Santa Barbara County and did
not settle in other sections,

As you know, the argument that Japanese settled near
strateglc installations for the purpose of sabotage was one
of the most potent arguments for evacuation, It was used exe
tensively by both state and federal officials and, of course,
by Mr. DeWitt in his own opus. As you also know, we have
actually in our possession the entire series of maps drawn
up by Attorney General Warren in the most elasborate presenta-

tion of this argument. The argument 1s most specifically
applied to Santa Barbara County and the Santa Maria and Santa
Ynez Valleys, about which Miyake apparently 1s well acquainted,

The polnt of all this 1s: would i1t be possible for
you to talk to Miyake at some length about the situation in
the Valleys noted above and Santa Barbara County as a whole?
Does he have any more information than that which is given
in the c¢lipping? Does he know anything sbout the time
sequence wigh respect to (1) Japanese, and (2) military in-
stallatlions in the County? Does he lmow anything ebout the
early settlement of the Danes in the Sente Ynesz Valley which
may have provented the Japanese taking over there? Can he
give specific instances (names and address) of settlers who
arrived In various sections of the County before ad jacent
military situations were established?

These are the types of things we are interested In
learning about, The argument as a whole is, of course, pretty
thin on the face of it, but it 1s a difficult argument’to
test for its accuracy without a great deal of factual dats
which we don't now possess, If Miyake is really well ac-
quainted with the County, and if he 1s Interested in pursuing
the matter further, we might arrange an honorarium for him
and let him do a complete job on the whole problem there,




For example, I might send him a complete list of the people
named by Attorney General Warren as occupying property ad-
Jacent to military installations, and Miyake them might be
able by interview, by using WRA forms and from his own
memory to supply us with a complete description of the
situation which is lacking in the simple enumeration of
Japanese and their nearness to military installations.

All this may sownd pretty far removed from your own
fleld, Yet, it 1s a problem that touches all field of the
evacuation study., Dorothy and I have been seeking for more
than & year some way of tackling the problem and Miyake secems
& good bet. Since we do have the original maps from which
both Warren's and DeWitt's charges were made, we could do a
eareful and well-documented job.,

I know your feelings toward the charming Miyake, but
this may be important enough for you to forget, at least
temporarily, In any case, I would sppreciate your thinking
about the matter and giving me your best advice.

I send you my best personal regards,

Sincerely yours,

I Merton

Enclosure
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

February 21, 1944

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY
207 GIANNINI HALL
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Dear Morton:

Re your request for ocommunicetion with Miyake, he has left on
temporary leave. However, he is eéxpeoted back within two weeks and
be agsured that I will do what I can. The outlook looks pretty good,
beseuse (1) "for the good of the Japanese" he ought to be willdng to
te1ll what he knows; (2) he'1ll do just about anything for okane, money
to you, you nisei, If Dorothy agrees I will spend the two weaeks
of his return here, before T come back to Berkeley working predominantly
on this problem., Ne should b able to introduce me to other Santa Mayria
residents. The big flaw as I see it, is his unwillingness to do it if
he thinks it will hurt his future in Americea., Perhaps if his name is
kept @ secret at least til1 G%LE after the war, he can be convinced.
Since he may hot think of this flew, I won't kention it.

Tou might send the 1list of names you mentioned immedistely and I
will do the hack work of finding out if théy are in Gila, getting addresses,
ato.

Don't worry about my feelings - they go into repid eclipse, not
T frankly admit for tte sake of the study but out of a tremendous redish
for intrigue. I look forward to the assignment with glee. Miyake has
a tremendous capacity for work and if he is really interested, the results
may be excellent.

A certaintundberg who states he is 8 good friend of the "Thomases"
arrived tonight, Since he seems a good egg and is not WRA I shall
show him the town, a thing I have done add would do for no omm wlse.

("cept Dorothy or "terms of ediress" lowie,

Blessings to a1l (the f1iu is licked)




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY F.bruary 21, 19“
207 GIANNINI HALL
BERKELEY 4, CALTFORNIA

Desar Dorothy,

The spell is broken. The pdpulsr hostility to the
resolution rose last week and the week before to such a sentiment
against the edministration as has not been scen in this camp since
military registration. The full importence of this did not strike me,
partly beocsuse I had not visited any of the radicals and partly because
my friends weére unwilling to speak freely on a popular &bk sentiment
which I as an Amériocan might find reprehensible. The notes enclosed
herewithy however, ere¢ a fair indication of publio opinion. The draft
hes d9Finite 1y taken seoond Place for the time being. I shall, fodlow
/yaﬁf suggestion and try to get more material on it.

The 1ast corrected pageSof the Tulelake manusor ipt was given to

§ Wy seoretary (new onw) yesterday. She's tot too fast but it should
come alohg,

Thank you for the book. I shall send a money order for the $3:45
and the $4: 74 16ft of the travel allowance (after 15 Beducted for
fenageling) es soon as possible. I may not be aBle to get it off
today, since there *is a council meeting this aft?rnoon.

In the ourse of wonversations I have even béen able to get
oonsdierable dope on the information Lowie wanted, This is a touchy
subject - but "my best friends will te1] me."

As a kibei of doubtfu) loyalty this resddbdon business has
depressed me. Wolter is purllind on the subjeot, but he did not do
theé dirty work. That was Miyake and Yamamoto who pushéd the bdank
reésolotion through the council (baving already written it). If this
i & demooracy 1'11 eat my oldest shoés. Bpown has been drunk for four
days. Since he has not the stability of a kibei he is almost having
delirium tremensabout the whole affair., We'l] in any case, the desired
excitement has mede itse1f fe1t,

Would you 1ike a written Feport on the affairz If not, I'y)
Work on segregatdon,

. F?r an obsoure reason I admire the honest soul who told Miyake,
}f you're trying to fool the Amerioan publie about as in this way,
I'm going to g0 8nd tel]l Mr, Bennett mow we really feel,

Best regards,




February 21, 1944

Dear Rosalle:

Re the postcard from Evelyn Hatanaka about refund of
income and victory tax: It is our understanding thatshe will
have to fill out the 1943 Income Tax form (short form) and
show what she earned for the year., If it is less than $500
she has to apply for a refund of the amount that was deducted

from her salary while she was working for us., If the Account-

ing offlce hasn't sent her a slip showing what she earned,

and what was deducted, I would suggest she drop them a note
asking for the figures to be sent her, 8She can then get an
Income Tax form at the Post Offlce In the Center, or the office
assigned to take care of Income tax, In the event she cannot
get an income tax form in the Center, she will have to send to
the 0ffice of Internmal Revenue nearest to the Project.

Kindest regards from all,

Sincerely yours,

A




February 26,1944

Dear Rosalie,

Your letter received, also I read yours to Mortem. Also
your Jjournal received and read with interest.

First, re Harry Miyake. All I want you to do now is
to talk to him informally, and see whether he really does kno
anything about the people from the Santa Muria and Santa Ynez
valleys, their history, how long they had been located there, etc.
or whether he was just making one of those general elaims about
having the inside dope. Do not make any agreement with him, and
do not waste much time on this at present. I want to map out a
systematie plan for working up all data of this sort. At preseant
I am making contacts with the Evacuee Property Division of WRA, and
will want to explore all their data and all other data from official
sourees before building up the more intensive case histories.
I am not & ¢ all sure that Miyake would be the best persomn to help
you #n this when we are set to go. By the time you get here, 1
will know a little more about the situatiom, althouzh I will not have
got as far as I want to, since WRA has decided to move next week, and
I shall have to wait until they are scttled in their new offices.
Coszens introduced me to the Lvacuee Pro erty chief by saying
#Dorothy is to have anything she wantsg P41ion said so." S0 1
guesse I shall get everything they have.

By 211 means, follow the resistence to the resolution
in detail. Possibly a report later. The draft situation
needs more intensive analysis. Ags you know, the FBI picked wup
someone in Poston for "sedition"; four people were arrested for
refusing induction at Granada; Rohwer is alleged to have developed
"mass resistence"( this is grapevine rumor, via Minidoka)y and
the situation in Minidoka is rather tense.

Another point of emphasis will, of-course, be continuing
develo ments in conneetion with reductions in employment. Two
new strikes are alrecady in progress in Minidoka( the "loyal®
project) in this connection.

The third point will be what happens when and if the
Jerome residents come to Gila, as I assume some of them will,
You will certainly want %to be there to watch develo ments closely
8o find out when the influx is due.

Then there is the degregation report. If I write any
more, you will join Tamie in revolt at déing "pushed around®,
I imagine I will receive your Tule Lake report shortly.
And now I will rezlly stop. Look forward to your
return.

4

Yours,

What 1s ny old friend CGeorge Lundberg doing in Gila?




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

February 26, 1944
EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY

207 GIANNINI HALL

BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Dear Dorothy,

|
Wi pndind  wptk
Podsy T kepe=tb put the Tule Report in the meil, I went over the

first oopy, after having studied the oriticised segregati-n reportg
thotoughly and slashed out a1] person references I could find, T did not

do this to the serbon, I don't 1ike the report - it's as full of holes
8g 8 sddve and doesn't hang together very well, But it's a1l T Enow,

I have obtained reservetions to come to Berkeley arriving the morning
of the 11 of Maroh, If the situation in Tule is all right, let me know
and I'1] write to Berkeley for reservations to Tule after staying in
Berkeley for two or three days for instruction. I'm coming straight
through end wasting no time in Ios Angeles. A1l I hear from Tule at
presept indicates that thin;s are very quite. Good God, I hope it
doesn t become another Gilas . -

( Iarmon )

g b: :mt;nolosing a letter from'Mary Hashimoto, It would probsb 1y
] 8t .that you write her instruotions and &&ke Pive her some
The 1list is about 1% inohes thiok, - oelon

I am progressing on the se *
gregation 4a4ak&d "01d man of the sea”
and hope to hav i i
. Mongay. ¢ 8 oonsiderable part of it in my slow typists handsg

In the Tujle énvelope you wil) also fin
17 d a lon
i:k:r;:wog relooation condidions in Chicago,. Incﬁdfﬁfgiﬁyfﬁfmtgig
ag:dago that he was surprised at how hard your bgys in
|

hicago w " .
mightglikgrto &nuw?hey Were even working on Christmas Eve, Cherlie

It hes rained herd every day here for the last week. We are in

mud to our knees. For
oo tunately I brought my £i¢1d boots so 1 squosghy

Terry gets battier vy
y day. Thursday and o1d friend of hi
Brown that Terry has changed terribly in the 1ast year, He ough: :ggd

to be working., T withhe 1d comment .,
Please 1et me know if the Berkeley arrivan suits you,
Binoere 1y yours,

(okii no kibei)
The big kibei to you,




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY February 28, 19044
207 GIANNINI HALL
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Dear Dorbhy,

Concerning your letter of FPeb. 26, I shell proceed with Miyake exaotly

as you suggest. I would not have made any sort of agreement becusse he

is such & slippery devil. My only resson for considering haste is thet

he intends to relocete definitely in & short (unstated) time, However,

I should not be surprised if there &&f sre not many people in ocamp who

cen give the data you desire. Hikids told me there sre many peocle from
thet part of California in camp] it would mérely b neécessary to contect

the more imPormed persons.

The resistence to the refoluticn has subsided., I shall try to get
a little more detail this week., It has fizzled out 1ike so many of
the Hilan ebortive eruptions. At present o611 I get is approval of the
men who have stood up in the other ocenters. But no one appeéars to be
willing to stick ¢&%r neck ouihere.

P,-\

Jérome people are due here in June - says Brown, So this impact,
whioch thinking evacuses heve told mé is 1iable to to imporyyWtent, is
still pretty far in the future,

The report on Tule was put in the mail today, Then after I had
meiled it T went to the mail delivery spot and piocked up & huge file of
pepers sent mé by Byron Akitsuki, the Chairmen of the Co-ordinating
Committee at Tule Iake. Hed f had them when I wrote the report it
would heve helped e great deal, They consist of extensive minutes to
meny méetingsyBeld when the Dai-hyo Sha wes breaking up, memorandums and
{E veryinterﬁgging report on informel interviews with detained stockade
interneds{fron January through February 156.) Also sre included minutes
of the block meneger's meetings (or at lesst some of them) from the
time the segrege es arrdved in cemp% T am delighted with this documentation,
I shall send a1l on as soon as I have reed the meterial,

The segregetion report is progressing. My typeist has the redone
chronologioal report and I am preparing the remainder faster thean she
can do it. So when I agein show my face to you I trust it will be a
proud and happy one.

When Igndberg mentioned his friendship to you, I thought it would
be nice to really shdw him sround. So I took him to some of the intelligent
friends in ocamp and though he got kind of tired, I think he saw & 1ok,
He behaved beautifully, for = hakugin, and T had no regrets that I Wmd
trusted him to this extent, ATl the evacuees were g&& glad to meet him,

st minute flash: Dr. Pedicord is definitely comirg to Gils;
Brown has been asked by Provimoe to go to Tulelake to replace Opler who

is being sent to Jerome. (Jaies e Qtd a, T wwtslbos As

Best regerds, Y ?n .«)
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pear Dorothy,

Just hear lest night from the Obsta's th at Mrs. Kikuohi had
had an emergency operation, It wes a perforated uleer, which Dr. Iki
said, "had no business m rforating." Mery end Mrs. Tuttle are seeing
thet Tom and Miyako are getting along all right. A women has been sent
to clean and wash for them, I dropped in this afternoon but they were
out playing. I left some orappes apnd popcorn,

T waited to talk to Sugiyama the doctor in charge before telegramming
you, knowing thet Eharlie probably telegramed you yesterday. Sugiyama
says that there are no complicetions, that the operation was performed
very soon (delay inoreases the risk) and that if nothing develope Mrs,
Kikuohi should be out of danger in a few deys. I would 1ike to teke her
something. But probebly a1l shé would enjoy is a Japanesd version of
popular stories. Reckon I'1' go to the library and pick up some t hing.,

Re work - I am doing what I oen to get draft sattitudes. Kato's
Asami's and Yemaohiochi's are in the meil, The peonie ereé beginning
to show oonsiderable concarn ober the transfer of Sleath to Tule and
his replacement by Pedicord. The doctors don't 1ike it, but it appears
thet they ers going to watch hip and see what he does before applying
the screws, The Segragation report is ready for tyving. My good
gsecretary hopes to be able to begin work in a few days.

On reading over the material Akitsuki sent me I see that &
considerable protions of the Tule Take report will inevitably be
enlarged. Without being optimistio, I believe the study may get all
the help he is able to give, And being THE big shot right now, it
should be considerable. &£&ihk Do you think it would be wise to
take two copies of my present report to Tule and esk him & and
Kur ihera to read it and oriticize it? The idea ocourred to mé but
I redlize it mey be most impractiosl, I have not written to Kur ihara,
since I think he would not like it, Since I have received no contrary
instruction from you I assume I should go to Tule and will now write
my contmots again, telling them of the probable date of mgy arrivel,

Sincere 1y yours,
T

[ /I : ’
L Sl o B TS SEE

P, S. Will 1et you know immedistely of any developments Wwith the
Kikuchis. Wne of the girls (neme beginning with M) is coming to Gila,
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March 2, 1044

Dear Rosalie:

I sent through your expense account today. In the
statement you sent in with the Money Order for $4.74 you
showed "Money owed to study" as §$33.95. This figure was
the cost of your rallroad and pullman tickets (Berkeley
to Los Angeles - pullman §7.60 and RR fare Berkeley to
Klamath Falls $26.35). The balance owéd| the study was

41,05, arrived at by deducting the above $33.95 from your
765,00 advance.,

To balance the §$75.00 advance with your Money Order
for $4.74, we made up the account as follows:

Railroad & pullman

Expenses at Tule, etec.

Largess (instead of the $15 arranged)
Returned by you

Hope I have made the above statement c¢lear, Am enclos-
ing the original seribbled statement you took with you to Gila
to help you understand the manipulations,

Sincerely yours,

~ '

e~

Enclosure
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Daar Dorothy,

Rece ived your telegram this rorning. I am sorry that my telegram
was 8 puzzle. I felt so certain that Charlie woQld let you know, My
last letter has explained the business. T visitad Mrss Kikuchi again
tonight. She seems quite weak, but according to the doctor is making
satisfactory progress. Miyakejarrived today, but was out when I o= 1ed,
Mrs. Kikuohi seems to be very shappy that the older giwl is hers to
take oher ge of the doctor. She repeated severa) times that Dr. Iki said
she oould work every other day when she befeme well.

By gum, the poor Kikuchis have one slam after the ofher. But th¥
come up.

Nothing interesting appeers to be coming up during the time I
intend to absent myself from Gila. Nothing ever happens in this
ukuzhinashi plece anyway, (That's what the kibei say,)

I am very cheered by the fect that my report was not too bad,
T know that future stey in ®dle will engarge, correct and bring it
into better perspective.

I am being 1oaded down with gifts of otsukemono ard daikon for
friends in GUUGUUUIUEUBEY Tule. I thrysaten that I will eat it all
up before I get there - but this seems to make no impression. It seems
that these delicsoiesa re not available in Tule Iake. I'm in fine fettle
end ought to be able to get a lot of work done.

Sincerely yours,

Ly

g
\ AR e S
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March 6, 1944

Miss Roaslie Hankey

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
207 Giannini Hall

University of California
Berkeley 4, California

Dear Miss Hankey: Re: OStatement of 1943 earnings

A statement of your earnings for 1947 was sent
to your Berkeley address.

Form W-2 showed that you received $1440.10 in
earnings and tax withheld in the amount of $130.50.

Yours very truly,
b7

0. Lundberg
Chief Accounting Officer




March 17, 1944
Dear Dorothy

Things are working along veryfavarably. Am gétting much
additional data and also Have already filled in many of the gaps
you pointed OUT. gay pAkitsuki today, he gave me considerable oral
lﬂfoHﬂEan and promised many more documents. He is getting pretty

disgustgd with the Administration's "inching" policy. 1 plan to

go completely over my notes Sunday and bolster the weak spots
whiech appear in the remaining days. Akitsuki als promised to
answer any queries I chose to make by mail,

With typical WRA giddy turnover the people in Social Service

in Febrwa ry are no longer there now. Thepresent intumbents swear
two copies of the train iists were mailed to Gila three wekks

agol I asked for another copy but they sngqest 1 trace the
f£ipst ones. I thought I would not press thes nirelings but get
the straicht dope from Harry Black vho rrburns from Sacramento
tomorrow. If I can possibly wheedle him into giving me another
Aist, 111 bring it wit h me - hell, I'll promise # mail hinm back
the ones he sent me.

I thought this long stay here would result
days s are shaping up so that I am certain I s &
plenty As I stated ﬂMOVﬁ, I shall employ the last
checking dobbtful items. 11111f4L” Akit owLw ﬁnrf} lqn iL

et a n l (3

.
and the Coop men have 1

(=

: 3 ‘ meantseriousyy)

Speneer, it is bas cally correct Tule Lake 1s more stimulatl ng,

pore intere . nearly so god
ruombe here let me
rodiuce more work
DﬁlWLT\TT*'”HT veff

! caref

hf"o me herei he lent

uld cfer to have an
SQOIIT,LY. Unfortunatd y,

from 7:00 to 11:00 D. M.,
Even Opler is better than

real 1 shing to get infa'me tion on is the Daihyo Sha.
acuees can De n»i too détailed questions - too inuish, I'll
and see T?:* get out of Opler, The Seinin Kai is notaing m
more or less than thw Gila GYPA, plus the addition of gimilar clubs
from other centers. Yamashiro is temporary president. He promnises
re infol next week.

Itve caught =& because my room mate thinks n 1ight

air is bad for you glee ,_;‘1n with whndows clo’)ﬁ{‘:‘l and
+he heat on. But con L~11 g over such mlnor mcﬁters m#re not
analagous to the Ja nans spirit, so will close 1 with

Sincere regards, (EglAJg;)
/




March 18, 1944
ear Dorothy,

All going swimmingly Up o present have about 50 page
of notes, much of it single space This is exclusd ve of
documents. O has gi ven me a trar 11'1131’ of the resport ef
the meeting of the Spa Cﬁnc-i and Dept. of Jus tice Rrepre=
sentative with the people, the Co-op folks have given me a

typed exerpt from the :inllﬂs in vh ich the Daihyo-Sha made
its demands and Akitsuki prmmises more minutes and a transl ati on
of the pro=-status quo groups attempt to edic ate the newly
arrived Manzanar npeople. "I, my fluent informant hasgotten
himself a job in the mess operations, as of the latte; part
of February and has appointed himse 1P a committe of ome to
smoop about uvtfi he gets the inside dope and the amount of
food the evacue are getting relative to the Caucasian s taff,

1

I now have almes t all gaps filled except for any inside
knowledge of the internal organization of the Daihyo Sha, which
may never obtain. That they sprang from a duly elected
body of representatives there can now be no doubt. All the
rest of the chronology has been enommously cleared up.

As for the question of my staying here - I have t alked it
over with my most trusted evacuee friends and ra de observations
on al 1 sides and now am convinced that to stay now might be

foolish. To make a long stay in six weeks or two months w uld
be far better, I expect to have a long talk withRobertson
tomorrow or Monday and will get the question cle ared up from

the administrative point of view. Right now they are so cro wded
here 1t would be out of the question. I got a ccomodations

here this time only by the barest skin of my téeth, I ret the
returned Housing Head this mornins and he tried to &2Hh%GHeedMmesd
impress me with the enormity of the favor which had been
inadverta ntly granted me. Said,he, "I can't understand how they
let you in as it is," he said &&‘&nb&&&&&&ﬁﬂ% sen tenti ""S1V.

"The Rockefekler Foundation is an important orvqnlgalen 1L
remarked cryptically. "fn Administrative persn ought .,0 be

sl eeping on tuat cot you have," he continued undaunted. "They
ought, but they wouldn't," I fctnrteJ déseribing the topography
of the cot with a graphic gesture, That held him.

Black, who arrived yesterday, promised me his own covy of
the train lists. At this late date I eeasoned& it would be best
to take them with me., 8So you'll get them Friday morning or
It1l lose my face = and you know to vhatd lenzgths a kibei will
go to before he loses face.

Myer 1s here and addressed the ssaff. I snuck in and have
notes = Chr ist, what crap. (Excuse the language but I've been
moving in a frank circle here and have been somewhat accul turated.)

Got my first threat since I'm on the study. A tough bozo
told me that if he got turned in after what he hadtold me he'd
see that somebody buried a hatchet in me. I gave him my correct
address,f telling him I didn't want anybody else hurt by mistake,
This rather startled him, and he apologized.

Am looking forward to seeing you and writing up this greatly
enlarged report (sam hatfhet),
Uff a,{l

Best regards,




UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY _

<7 44
207 GIANNINI HALL March <7, 19
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

Dear Dorothy,

The tremendous lethargy and stegnation of Gila has never been so
apparent to me before, It hes probebly been growing slowly and imperceptdbly
for many months but now it is almost stifling, Every day I'm over joyed
that you decided to tranfer me to Fule, Give me riots and bestings any da Ve

My notes will be a bit sparse for this steyf I fear, Nothing is going
on, kost of my visits comprise nothing but inconsequentia] gossip, I
anm sending on a few pages and Y)y/¥yPyd Brown's notes on comrunity governmen &
which I have had typed, Nobody seems to give a heng about the change on
which Brown but so much donstruction, If it afrects anyone it is onlv the
few people intimotely concerned., I sha1i interview them during my stay,

Work on the cards starts tomorrow. Kitasalm was most cooperat ive
and appears willing to go to a gre=t deal of trouble,

Iam getting a good deal of materis] for Lowie, which will cut down
my noteés., But I might as well give the guy a bresk,

Housing does not want me to move and since the westher is comparat ive 1y
@001 (95 to 100) at its worst, I don't think it wise to make an issue of it
It's not too bad., The dust storms are at their worst, however, and often
keep me indoors for hours at a time., But T can work on my Tule Report
which requires considerabie enlerging (Akissuki's notes and the meat ing
between Best and the committee), &atkhatidbasniiibothes so t he storms can
rage,

Every dividion is feeling the pinch of the re location of capable
individua 1s. The degeneration #lay be rretty racid from here on,

I fight as best I em against this omnipresert stupifaction, but it's
hard going,

Will write over the week-end and report on cards progress,

Sincerely yours,




2904 - By, Tule Llake Center
lewell, Cslifornis
April 5, 1944

Miss Rosalie Hankey
Research Assistant

3ila River Relocation Center
Rivers, Arizona

Dear Miss Hankey:

I have received a lstter dsted March 27 from Dr.
Thomas of Berkeley, stating thst you will be in this
I'nle Leke Center about two weeks later for the sole
purpose of obtaining personally ths documents which
I have promised you.

Due to “he abundance of work, I have been un-
able to complete them. C‘herefore, should you be
coming here for the documents, 1 would like to sug-
gest that you postpone your visit until =sbout the
end of this month. Upon complstion, 1 shall notify
you.

Very truly yours,

NAE A~ /Y
-~ BAron EkitHuki

aave
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

EVACUATION AND RESETTLEMENT STUDY
207 GIANNINI HALL
BERKELEY 4, CALIFORNIA

April 12, 1944

Dear Rosalle:

I am enclosing a letter from Mr. Akitsuki
which was forwarded to you from Gila.

There is just one minor point which I wish
you would look into. If there are any lists show-
ing releases that have occurred recently, that is
after the so-called train 1lists, I would appreciate
have copies of them. These releases would be per-
sons going on indefinite or seasonal leave, or
persons transferring to other projects.

Sincerely yours,

Dorothy Swaine

L'
T £9f””q°LJITV4
Nt




April 19, 1944

Dear Rosallie:

I regret to inform you that a committee, consist-

ing of myself as chalrman, Mr. Grodzins and Mrs, Wilson

has, after a strenuous sesslon, been unable to disentangle
your expense account, We cannot straighten it out to a
point where the accounting offlce will find it acceptable,
we are quite sure. So we are going to hold it until you
come back and can glve us your personal report on the
matter. Since we have put in a travel advance of $85.77
for you, you will be all right financially in the mean-
time,

Sincerely yours,

Doreothy Swaine Thomas

P,S, Be sure to bring the pullman receipt of your April 18
trip.




April 25, 1944
Dear Dorothy,

I am horridly oontrike about the expense acoount business, If I
°an olear up the matter at all by stating definite date and use to which
each ticket was vcut, please mail me the statement, I may also be able to
get the Fhoenix office to give me some sort of a statemnt., From now on, it}
going to be receipts or bust,

A1l is quietin Gils as usual, The only item of excitement is t he
furor among the appointed personnel over the ruling by Myer which goes into
effeot May 1, that Caucasians can hire evacuees for "private enterprise"
only through an arrangement with the Co-op. The Co~Op here arpears very
reluctant about making the arrangements. Moreover, the girls who clean
and wash for the Caucesians are not willing to do it ona 16 or 12 & ronth
salary, The Caucasians are really upset.

Iam maiting you the notes on segregation and the interviews with
segregees mhioch may be attached to my chronologice laccount., My typist has
completed them in my absence.

I have two requests: 3

1. If the copies of Opler's reportson Tule are completed in time I
should 1ike to have them as I plan to do condiderable work on PYZ the Tule
report here, During the day one oan do 1ittle but write and my secretary
is we 1l over her morning sickness and ready to work kike a besver,

2, When you have settled on the definite date for the Salt Iake
conference I should like to know because I'd 1ike to have my sister visit
me for a week at Tule,

Bennett was unusually cordial last night at dinrer. In fact, I was
never treated so well. But I'11 bear up under it.

The damn S. P. had lost my letter asking for reservations. So I had
to take what I could get which may involve another bedroom - consarn it.,
But I do have reservetions and will arrive in Berkeley the morning of lay
11 You might get me reservations to Tule about May 3rd, since they appeer
to be getting harder to scquire. I suppose leaving Berke ley anyt ime
after May 12 will be OK with me.

krs. Brown relsted a nice story. It seems that Spicer on his visit here
was most interested in my work, "But naturally," he said, "she got most of
her contacts from Robertson.," Noyal Mrs. B. oould not stand for this.
She assured him that I went to Tule with my hands full of letters from
friends and my head full of contacts.) Brown may be sent to Washington
in a few months.

I had a lovely and restfu) stay in [os Angeles, and am simply pahnashim

my teeth to get beck to work, My niece is rapidily becoming a credit to the
mei]Y .

Best regerds,




Miss Rosalie Hankey
2683 Shasta Road
Berkeley 8, Californie

Dear Miss Hankeys

I have to inform you that you are indebted in the sum of $1.00
to one Morton Grodzins, Esq. of Chicago. The facts are as follows:

Following the return of Fortas and Wechsler from San Francisco
a meeting was called yesterday in Fortas' office. Present were Fortas,
Myer, Pitts, Ferguson, Wechsler, Ennis, Burling. Fortas began by saying
there were one or two preliminaries on which an agreement could be reached
rapidly. We then spent a great deal of time arguing about inconseguential
matters. For instance, Fortas claimed that a victory had been achieved by
having the Army rescind recommendations for detention of persons who had
already been relocated. In fact, the Army had prepared such a list but
had never furnished it to any one and no recommendation had been mede and,
therefore, no triumph had been achieved. We next came to the question of
who was to be detained at Tule Lake and Myer took the position that he had
been complying with the instruction ever since he received it although
he disapproved of it. Both he and Fortas said a renunciant should be in
the same status as any other alien and should not be detained unless there
was a particular reason for detention. We replied that the fact that he
had volunterily given up citizenship and announced his adherence to the
enemy in time of war was a particular reason. Myer then said that many of
the people had renounced under pressure. I said I agreed but that the
pressure had caused them to adopt attitudes of loyalty to Japan and that
we could not relocate them. I next said that to call our detention policy
harsh was ridiculous since no renunciant wanted to go out but, on the
contrary, that meny of the renuncisnts had sent in their forms the last
week in December because of his policy of closing Tule Lake.

Myer then, believe it or not, asserted that he had never said
that Tule Lake would be closed at the end of this year. I permitted some
asperity to color the usual pleasant tone of my voice and said he certainly
had. His quibble was that he had said that the Relocation Centers would
close and that Tule Lake was not a Relocation Center and, accordingly, he
had not made any such statement. I again denied this. The conversation
moved on. He next asserted that he presently was detaining all persons
who had applied for renunciantion insofar as he had the lists but that we
had only given him three or four hundred names. The fact is, of course,
that we have given him all the names of applicants as they come in and




also the names are available at Tule Lake. I asserted that the names were
available at Tule Lake, which he denied, and Fortas put an end to that
guarrel. Next followed a long debate as to whether the Department of
Justice would presently agree not to announce its detention policy without
agreement from the Department of Interior. We said that we agreed that

it should not be made and that we would consult them before we would make
it but we couldn't agree now because we didn't know what would come up.
This bicker also took up a good deal of time. At some point in here I
stated, and then I stated it twice again, that we were going at all the
problems backward since every detailed question depended upon the central
guestion of whether WRA was to adhere to its forced relocation policy.

For example, the importance of not announcing Justice's detention policy
is that it would presently invite people into our camps, whereas if WRA
camps were to be available, it would not have this tendency. Each time
Fortas would smile agreeably and said he hoped we would bear with him and
he thought the meeting should be conducted his way. The last time he smiled
at me and said that was the advantage of having the meeting in his office
and I replied, smiling agreeably and I hope with some acid, that I perceived
that he was the Under Secretary. At a later point, but on the same theme,
Wechsler joined in end asserted that we were conducting the meeting like
certain religious groups that undertake to read the Bible backward (i.e.,
the laczt page first, then the preceding page, etc.) and that we would do
better to start at the beginning. Fortas, unruffled and smiling, said it
might be very interesting to read the Bible that way.

The debate moved to the guestion as to who should have responsi-
bility for detention. Wechsler stated that we should undertake it at the
earliest possible moment and liyer said that he had no objeetion to an
announcement on July 1 that say on September 1 we would undertake the
responsibility. TFortas then asked Wechsler if we presently had facilities
available to undertake the job and he replied that we did not. I said that
since the WRA camps had been built to house 110,000 people and since there
were under 75,000 now in them, it is obvious that Congress would never
appropriate money for additional housing facilities for evacuees. Fortas
then said it would appear that we would have to take Tule Lake, to which
I replied that this was one area in which I thought I was in agreement
with Myer and that if the Government took Tule Lake and undertook to put
out of Tule Lake those who should be relocated, we would get only a handful
out, whereas if we had another camp and removed from Tule Lake only those
who should or wanted to be detained and deported, there was a chance that
there would be a residue of several thousand, so that the direction in
which resegregation took place might significantly affect the size of the
group detained and ultim=tely deported. HMyer did agree to this and said
that wes the reason for requesting delay. Once again he referred to the




fact that the schools were about to close and that his big movement would
start in three weeks and he wanted to keep the situation unstirred up

until that was over. Wechsler said that it was our proposal that, for
example, Poston and Gila be consolidated and one of them given to us for
use as a detention camp. Myer flatly refused this on the ground that it
would look like pressure for relocation and on the additional ground that
he had promised a three-month warning period before any Center was closed.
(This last has some validity but at least.to some extent what people fear
is the closing of the Center and their forced relocation. They would not
feel as strongly if they were being moved to another Center with some
assurence of continued protection.) Fortas then stated with great vigor
that he disagreed with Myer as to our assuming responsibility for detention
and that he wanted to get the Interior Department out of detention and

into a purely social service function at the earliest possible moment.
Wechsler agreed with this and said that we were in the prison business and
should run prisons and that Interior was in the social service business and
should run welfare camps. Then followed some bickering as to how this
should be done in view of the impasse created by Myer's refusal to give us
one of his camps. Fortas and Wechsler began talking by themselves in a sub-
group and agreed that the two Departments should work out the transfer of
functions as soon as possible. At this point I commented to Ennis, who

was sitting next to me, that this was like the Yalta agreement on the Poles,

i.e., we were holding a meeting and mking an agreement that a subsequent
meeting should be held on what to do. (If you have been reading the
papers, you will observe that this procedure has not proved very satisfactory.)

My recollection is that at the end of this I once more referred
to the fact that you couldn't decide any cuestion until Interior's policy
on forced relocation was decided. Fortas then took me up and said, "Since
you went to know Interior's policy, here it is: We are going to go ahead
with the closing order and do everything we can to carry it out." Wechsler
then said he thought that was what we had come to discuss. Fortas replied
that Chapman and I had made this extended trip and that Chapman had recom-
mended thst the closing order be kept in effect. Chapman, who by this time
was probably having an acute attack of weak nerves, did nothing. I said
that Chapman had repeatedly told me that his position was identical to mine,
which was that the closing order should be kept in effect if certain
additional things were done. Fortas denied that that was Chapman's position
and said it was that the closing order should be kept in effect and that
certain things should be done. I said that the first was conditioned on
the second and Fortas denied it. I then asked why we were arguing about
it and why we didn't ask Chapman and turned to him. Fortas replied that
there was no reason to ask Chapman since it was in his memorandum. I then
asked if he had any objection if I asked Chapman whether he agreed with me
as he said he did. All this time Chapman was just looking embarrassed.




After a little more ofvtpii exchange, however, Chapman then said, "Well,
let's get it straight.'?read it from my memorandum." He then produced a
carbon copy and started to leaf through it. I continued to urge that we
were not trying to construe a will and that it didn't matter what the
precise words in his memorandum were but that it was his opinion that
counted, and Chapman continued to say, "Just a minute. I am looking for
it." After several minutes of this, and about this point in the argument,
Fortas stated that he and Chapman had to attend a lunch in ten minutes.

I told Chapman flatly that there was no use in looking for a statement of
his position in the event that his recommendations as to modification

of the closing policy were not accepted because I knew it wasn't there.

He expressed surprise at this and I then repeated to him the wesk state-
ment he had made to me six weeks previously, namely, that he thought that
courtesy to the Secretary and the Under Secretary recuired that when he
make & recommendation he assume that it would be carried out. His idea is
that he recommended that the closing order be modified in many important
respects. Since he assumes that these modifications will be adopted,
there is no need for him to discuss whether the closing order should be
continued in effeet if those modifications are turned down. By the time
I said this Chapman had given up looking for the statement (it in fact
was not there) and began to telk to me in a low tone of voice saying that
if he recommended that the policy of the closing order be carried out and

that it was necessary, in order to do so, to modify the present practices

in several important respects, that logically amounted to & statement that

if the modifications were not made then the closing order should be rescinded.
In Fortas' office I induced Chapman to say to me that if our modifications
were not adopted the order was wrong. Unfortunately by this time, and of
course deliberately, Fortas was not listening to this conversation but was
talking to Wechsler. I could not get Chapman to speak to Fortas.

Fortas then said piously that there was a difficult question
and that he had relied on a men having administrative responsibility who
presumably knew most about it and that he thought Chapman had agreed. I
said that I agreed that the presumption was that Dillon knew most sbout it
but the fact was that the inspection trip led us to the conclusion he was
wrong and that we were not alone but were in agreement with every private
agency having an interest in the problem (in addition to the ones you know
about, the American Civil Liberties Union has protested) and that the other
two Government Departments impinging on the problem, State and Justice, were
strongly in agreement and that the vast majority of Myer'!s own field service
were in disagreement with him. Fortas replied that the young men that
Justice had sent over to talk to him from the University of California had
agreed with Myer, to which I rejoined that he was the only person outside
of Myer's immediate and loyal followers that we could find anywhere to agree
with him. During this last conversation Myer was occasionally emitting




a croak like a frog. Chapman and Fortas then got up and went out a side
door leaving the WRA and Justice contingents milling in the office.

Dillon then announced that he resented not having been heard
and Ennis replied that he had won a complete victory and there was no
reason for him to have been heard. Then Myer said that he had been made
a devil and was going to be responsible for what happened, whereas he
had opposed the renunciation statute and had opposed the time at which we
held our hesrings at Tule Lake. I murmured about this but it didn't seem
worth fighting about.

Upon returning to the Department of Justice, Wechsler wrote
a memorandum to the Attorney General deploring the situation but telling
him there didn't seem to be much he could do. He then wrote & strong
letter to Fortas transmitting a copy of my report (see below before becom-
ing alarmed) and telling him that this Department was surprised that it
had not been consulted and that it was convinced that the policy of WRA
was "tragically wrong".

---oo(Interval)t.-'------oionlloouob-t.-----

the course of the afternoon Chapman called me and asked that
he be sent & copy of my report also and stated that he was amused by the
discussion of the morning. I replied that none of the Department of
Justice representatives left the meeting with any emusement, to which
Chapman replied that he was afraid his position had not been entirely
clear. He went over his ridiculous reasons once more for not having made
& clear written statement and asserted that he agreed with me that if his
recommendations were not adopted, the closing order should be rescinded.
He said he was not entirely sure that Fortas understood this. I said, on
the contrary, it was entirely clear that I'ortas did not understand this but
thought the contrary. (Actually I don't know what Fortas thinks Chapman's
position is. I think that he feels that Chapman's words can be used to
support his own bureaucratic decisions to back his Administrator.) Chapman
said he did not wish us in Justice to think he was saying one thing to
this Department and something else to Fortas, to which I did not reply.
He went on mumbling for about five minutes, during which time I continued
to tell him Fortas thought that he disagreed with me and during which
time he sald he would speak to Fortas again. We are unable to decide here
whether Chapman is really so ineffective that he could not make his recom-
mendation clear, whether he thinks he is being diplomatic and is agreeing
with everyone or whether he and Fortas have cooked up an elaborate scheme
for frustrating me. If the latter is the case, it is quite ingenious.

On May 17 the Attorney General sent for Wechsler and said he
was disturbed by Wechsler's memorandum and thet he intended to do some-
thing himself. He then wrote a very strong letter to ickes and called




Fortas and read it to him. At that time Fortas told Biddle that the final
policy had not been determined. We do not, of course, believe this.

On May 18 Fortas was in the Department for another reason and
he came in to see Wechsler and complained strongly about Wechsler's letter
to him and said thet he deprecated the making of formal records. He also
took credit for the strategy of Wednesday's conference and thought he had
been clever in dealing with the preliminary matters first and postponing
the difficult question for last. He then indicated that we were unduly
excited and that his real policy was to go along for a while and see how
Myer's scheme worked and that we had not been turned down. Wechsler then
told him with great clarity that the essence of our recommendation was
temporal and that by deciding to wait for several months to consider the
policy he had in fact rejected our recommendation. Today Fortas rejoined
with a fairly disagreeable letter to Wechsler and asserted that the con-
sul tation which we had been waiting for for so long had in fact taken
place when Chapman had come over to the Department, about which I have pre-
viously written. I have drafted a disagreeable reply but I doubt if
Wechsler will sign it.

This then is the practical end of the controversy. I am fairly
certain that it was not decided in any way on the merits but on two grounds:
first, that Fortas was indignant when Biddle's statement zbout Tule Lake
was published and in general felt that the Department of Justice was
muscling in on his jurisdiction; and, second, that the matter was compli-
cated enough and he was unsure enough in his osm mind that he did not
wish to fire Myer and that changing Myer's policy would amount to firing
him.

.-.--.----.-...--.----.-.-........(Interval)...-.............--......--..

On Sunday, May 20 Wechsler was at Fortas' house at a party.
Wechsler kidded Fortas sbout his conduct and Fortas indicated he was still
thinking about it and would send us his recommendation to Ickes. Pending
receipt of this, which might give us & chance to reenter the fray, Wechsler
has held up my disagreeable letter.

With respect to your panic over my disclosure of Nishimoto's
identity, I am extremely sorry if you feel that I have betrayed any confi-
dence. I assumed, since Nishimotowas willing to talk freely in front of
Chapman, that it is agreeable to him that the matter be known except to
WRA. The memorandum is not circulating generally and only two copies have
gone to Interior, one to Fortas and one to Chapman. Fortas' copy was
transmitted with a letter from Wechsler expressly requiring that it be not
shown to any one in WRA until it had been returned to us and confidential
material deleted. It was explained to Fortas that both Chapman and 1 had
pledged our Departments to maintain the confidences of our informants.




We feel pretty sure that Fortas will respect this not only for the moral
reason but because if Myer got hold of it avwhole lot of new controversies
would be started. I sent a copy to Chapman and reminded him of the fact
that he had pledged himself to maintain various confidences divulged in
the report and pointed out that it must under no circumstances get to
WRA. For this reason I honestly do not think you need to worry.

In any event I am surprised at the extreme apprehension my
reference to Nishimoto caused. I am under the distinct impression that
the Community Analyst at Poston is aware of Nishimoto's relation to your
Study and I am also under the impression that the Analyst is so naive
and well-intentioned a little fellow that he might well tell the Project
Director. I assume that Nishimoto evaluated this risk some time ago.
Anyhow, after Nishimoto's extreordinary conduct with relation to me, which
you will reczll included getting me up after I had gone to bed the first
night I had arrived in Poston and calling to me by my first name as I came
out of the mess hall the next day with Chapman, Lee and all of the Froject
executives, is such that if the WRA people don't know that Nishimoto is
working for you they must suspect that he is working for this Department
which I should think would cause equally great concern. In any event I
have been &t &ll times aware of the problem and I believe I am maintaining
Nishimoto's confidence.

As for the reason for referring to Dr. Thomas and Nishimoto at
all, you must understand that I was not primarily writing a scientific
treatise but an argumentative report end anything I could put in to add
persuasiveness or weight was importent. I knew that a reference to Dr.
Thomas! own views would be especially important because both Fortas and
Wechsler knew of her standing as a sociologist. It was -important to
identify Nishimoto because, first, some of the most significant stuff in
the report came from him and it had to be attributed to somebody and,
second, if I had attributed it to Nishimoto without identifying him, the
effect of the information would be minimized as coming from another dis-
gruntled alien.

Your letters on my report and the copy have been received and
I have gone over your comments with the greatest interest and I deeply
appreciate them. You ask about the administration femce in the Tule
Lake riot. I do not have any written references for the statement that
Myer did not authorize the fence. My principal informant was Colonel
Austin. It is also to be observed that the fence was not in fact put up
until after the incident of the fourth and I do not think Myer told the
staff that he had ordered it. I also understand that the posts and wire
were available before the incident. If I am right in these matters, why
didn't it get put up until later?




I have noted your desire for z copy of Hashimoto's letter to
this Department which gave rise to my egregious manifesto and 1 will try
to get you a copy. J

Due to what might also be celled pique at the careful consider-
ation my views got in the Department of Interior, I abandon any desire
to have the history of my participation in WRA policies kept secret. Any-
thing which I have told you (and which would not directly involve Myer's
subordinates such as the views of some who talked about the situation with
great freedom) I release to you or to the Study unreservedly. I suppose
it would not be a good idea for the whole fight to be published now in the
Hearst papers but if anybody wants to make reference to this in a history
of WRA to be published after the war, it is 0.K. with me--and even more
than that. You suggested that 1 send Dr. Thomas a copy of the report. I
don't quite feel like doing that but if you or the Study want it I will
be glad to send one back to you. I am a little short on copies right now
but could let you have one in a couple of weeks. I would be glad to
release this also for whatever use you wish to meke of it in your post-
war publications, again safeguarding only the identity of my confidential
informants. In this comnection, of course, their identity is not safely
cuarded by referring to a Project Director as R.M. and then quoting what
he said about Myer. Let me know if you want this.

Yours,
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As for the stuff you want, I enclose herewith a copy of Sekamoto's
letter.

You ask for a list of the names of renuncisnts with the date of
reception of their applications. This information is not directly avail-
able. It is kept here on docket cards. Since there are 6,500 such eards,

I obviously cannot have Government  stenographers prepare the list for
private (although worthy) purposes. If you wish to come to Washington

and copy off the list, I will be delighted to make the files available to
you if I am still here. As a matter of fact, that's rather a good idea and
you could take advantage of the occasion by taking a poke at Mr. Myer.

We have several different 1lists purportimg to be the membership
list of the Hokoku, as well as other lists purporting to be resegregants
or members of the Hoshi Dan. Here again the difficulty is in how to get
conles.

The first renunciation forms were mailed by the Department on
October 31. Sixty were mailed that day. I do not know just when the
carbon copies arrived but it obviously could not have been before November
14 eand I know that it was prior to November 22 because I was here at the
time and I left Washington on that date. You ask whether they came in a
bunch. If you mean did they all come in one envelope, the answer is no.
If you mean were they received almost simultaneously, the answer is yes.
You will recall that at about this same time we received requests for
application forms bearing several hundred signatures.

On my first visit to Tule Lake I had three different forms.
One was a form letter addressed to the Attorney Genmeral asking to be given
an application form, the second was an application form and the third was
the renunciation form. I started calling in persons for whom completed
applications had been received in the Department. When I switched to go
to work on the leaders of the Seinen Dan I used the letter, sending for
them because of their position and giving them the letter and,after they
had signed that, then giving them the application form and, if they signed
that, then letting them sign the final renunciation form. I do not remem-
ber exactly how many I took or used but I believe it was about 50.

It 1s not correct that all of the persons interviewed in the
second visit had sent applications to Washington. In addition to those,
persons were interviewed who mailed applications directly to me at Tule
Lake in accordance with instructions which I published in the Newell Star
upon my second arrival.




Ennis went to Tule Lake in the second week of July 1944. He was
only there a couple of days and did not accomplish very much. He was in
California for an entirely separate purpose, to argue the Hawaiian martial
law cases in San Francisco. He went up to Tule Lake out of curiosity and
because Colonel Washburn and some other officer of the Western Defense
Command also wanted to go up and were flying in an Army plane. Ennis
talked principally to the remaining men in the stockade. He got the im-
pression that the troublemakers at Tule Lake were in the stockade and he
recommended that those who said they intended to renounce their citizenship
be transferred upon the strength of that statement to Santa Fe although
the regulations as to renunciation had not been prepared or promulgated
by the Attorney General. This recommendation was not followed in part
because of my opposite recommendation.

Colonel Austin, that military gemnius, came in recently ostensibly
to see me. I introduced him to Wechsler and Colonel Austin announced the
startling doctrine that he had been removed from Tule Lake because the
Army was having trouble at Papago Park or wherever he is and, since he is
a star trouble-shooter, they rushed him down there.

Yours,
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negative answer, whether it would not be appropriate for this Department

to object to misstatements by WRA concerning mail intercepts. Incidentally,
it is my belief that very strict regulations concerning the secrecy of these
intercepts exist and it is highly improper, if not unlawful, for any private
person or agency to be informed as to the contents thereof.

By the time you get this I assume you will have heard that 400
people were picked up on Sunday. This does not mean that we have abandoned
any prior i1deas but merely means that it now looks pretty clear that we will
not take over Tule Lake for some time to come. This latter decision is reached
in part as a result of arguments over mechanical problems such as the ultimate
place of detention and in part because everyone has agreed that it would be
better not to have it become known that renunciation will lead to detention
until the relocation movement has had as good a chance as possible to get
going. In any event, since we are not to take Tule Lake, it did not seem
to us that we could assume responsibility for telling WRA how to run it in
the meantime or that we could refuse to remove persons that they asserted
were causing trouble. Accordingly we told WRA that we were opposed to the
move but that, since it was their responsibility, we would take the people.

I am confident that aside from everything else they have gotten the lists
all balled up and are largely taking the wrong people. I already have on my
desk a thick sheaf of telegrams of protest and I have no doubt that grave
injustices were done. I do not, however, see what can be done about it.

At a very fancy cocktail party given to console Biddle for his
departure I had a fine opportunity to get back a little at Fortas. Having
had several drinks, I came up to him and congratulated him on being the
finest diplomat in Washington. He was pleased by this and asked what I
meant. I said that he was so smooth that I had not gotten angry until
several hours after I had left his office. He then wanted to discuss the
merits of the matter but I confined myself to praising his extraordinary
agllity at managing meetings so that the opposition could not be heard.

I still do not know what I am going to do other than that I shall
leave this Department as soon as the immediate burden of deciding which
German interned alien enemies get repatriated is settled.

It will be very hard indeed for me to figure out a way of getting
the names, dates, etc. that you want (and I must admit I can't see what in
the world you want them for. You can't intend to publish all that in a
monograph and it must be that you want the data in order to treat it in
some way and derive some conclusioms from it. If you will tell me how you
want the data treated, it is possible that I might more easily be able to
get you the conclusions than to get all the original data copied.) Thus
if you and Dr. Thomas really are anxious to have the raw data and if she in
fact has some pull with Clark, I recommend that she communicate with him.

....l..l"."..'..I..D.........Dl-l‘.-l..'l'l...l......‘....l"l.l.".....




219 North Royal Street
Alexandria, Virginias
August 22, 1945

Miss Rosalie Hankey
207 Giennini Hall
Berkeley /, California

Deer Miss Hankey:

I have just returned from about a month on Ellis Island which, as
you probably know, is the eastern equivalent of Angel Island, where we
have been harassing leaders of the German-American Bund and other Nazis.
In approximately four weeks we heard 109 cases, of whom I should Judge
108.75 lied to us. The swastika has no relation to Hitler but was used
by the Bund as a symbol because it was associated with the Indians who
were the first Americans, after #ll. No interned German alien, whether
or not he was & member of the Nazi Party, had any interest or knowledge of
Hitler or was in the slightest extent anti-Semitic. The two cases which
would most appeal to you I believe were those of two miserable fairies who
some years ago came to be known as "Nancies" and "Queens". From this it
was easy for the pair to become known as "the Nancy Queens" and once Adolf
Hitler came into power an easy phonetic chang made them "the Nazi Queens".
As a result of this philological mishap they have spent about three years
in internment.

Anyhow the hearings are going very much more slowly than I had
expected and it now appears that we shall leave for Bismarck, North Dakota
on August 26, where we will probably be until September 15. At that time
we shall proceed by air to San Francisco and will be there a couple of days.
We will spend a day or so more in Los Angeles and then leave for Crystal
City, Texas, which as a camp compares in remoteness to Tule Lake as Point
Barrow, Alaska compares to Pershing Square. After a couple of weeks there
we shall proceed to Algiers, Louisiana and then back to Washington and then
to New York for three weeks or a month and finally to Boston and Philadelphia,
each for two days. At that point the Federal Government I hope will suffer
the severe loss of the services of the undersigned.

If you persist in leaving for Chicago on September 1, I shall miss
you at Berkeley. On the other hand, I shall be in the Bay Region only a day
or so anyhow. You might let me know your plans by writing to me in care of
the Alien Enemy Repatriation Hearing Board, Immigration and Naturalization
Service, Fort Lincoln, Bismarck, North Dakota.

On August 14 I was of the opinion that the Japanese surrender was a
part of a dire plot on the part of Dillon S. Myer to harass and ridicule




me (and to some extent your Study) but more mature reflection has caused
me to reject that view and I am not entirely clear that V-J day may not

at least temporarily exacerbate his problem. On the other hand, in the
long run, howeswez, it greatly helps him since it is now impossible for
people to say they were promised a haven until the end of the war and that
they should not be sent out before that time. On the whole I have no

doubt that it is a good thing that the war is over but I am certainly irked
at the extraordinary luck which has kept Myer from reaping the Just rewards
of his persistently erroneous policy judgments.

I do not know to what extent your work on Tule Lake is coming to an
end. The social picture, however, is by no means stable. There was a move
before V-J day and I perceive the first inklings of a greatly increased
movement now in which renunciants write in and sob that they were misled,
pressured, confused and deluded by rumor and that they really dearly love
the Unlted States and never in their hearts wished renunciation. I am
willing to bet that the wave pattern is, although on a smaller scale,
strikingly similar to the renunciation wave of December and January. It
is interesting to note that this wave is 1little diminished by the fact
that we have promptly replied to all the first letters which started coming
in about the end of June)saying that no power in the Government could cancel
a renunciation or restore citizenship. Some of the people write back in
the face of such a complete turndown on absolute legal grounds and urge
that the facts in their cases be considered some more. In general, our
advice to 40 or 50 people in the Center that we were without legal authority
seems to be entirely ignored. One reason for this mgy be indicated by the
fact that the letters are very often filled with highfalutin talk about
social pressures amnd duress which suggests very strongly that someone such
as Opler or Noyes is assisting in the composition. Noyes, = truly great
legal scholar, may not believe our statements that we can do nothing and
may think he will shame us by further pleas. The fact, however, is that
we cannot do anything to restore citizenship no matter what we would like
to do and similarly I would be willing to bet & nickel that it would be
politically impossible not to detain all the renunciants.

I am sorry about your brother. It appears that there is a great deal
of misery in the world, On the other hand, it may not matter much longer
since it would appear to me pretty clear that within a few years some
nation such as the Germany of 1939 will conquer the world by blowing it all
to hell--which it may well deserve.

Yours,




Aagust 23, 1943

Dear Sir:

In the nﬂdli of February this year I've remounced my dmerican
eitizenship thoughtlessly., Up to that time I've never given a thought
te remounce eitizenship. .

The problem of citizenship renunciation had been discussed
hestedly within the Tule Lake camp at that time, and for this reason
not only within the camp but also in my residing block almest all the
Nisel remounced their citizenships, A4e a result, to those few who
retained their eitizenshipa, the people uttered abusive words ealling
them to be un=Japanese or saying not to play with those fellows,

Such has been the surrounding pressure thet as a mother I was foreed

inte a position of erying out the days., The atmosphere of the camp

was bad then, and the atmosphere in my ‘lock wes especially bed, so

much so that even the daily greetings were menasing} an’ the eir was
filled with indescribable threat, For this reason I have talked with

my husband about a way of overcoming such life, and some times we both

wept, However, I really took pity of my twe childrem, Because of such
gondition I was chased into a position of remouncing eitizenship as an
expedient in softening the feelings of the people in the bleck. This

had lezn my desperate plight, Therefore thinking that I could retract

it later, I have applied for my remounciation at the last moment,

Since I was surrounded by the members of 2 certain orgenization, I was
filled with pesinful feeling, end in a stete being choked with tears,

A8 you can see, the truth of the fact was thet the surrounding ruled

my motive, end as a consequence it is cleer that my action in remouneing
the citizenship was nmot my intention. Also during the hearing, minding
the current rumer that one must stress mothing but his desire to repe-
triate to Japan, I have replied as such teo the hearing oefficer, which

Was not my true mind, This too is not at all the expression of my heart
but wes because of a stiong pressure from all around,

But whatever the surrounding pressure, thinking my ection eelmly

I myself realize a certain degree of responsibility toward taking a step

to remounce my eltizemship. 8o in this respect I don't hesitate to do

any amount of spologizing., Also mo matter whot ealamity may befell upen
the United States, I will abide by the laws of the United States and become
a better housewife; and by wershipping amd defending the Democracy, I

wish to swear my undivided loyalty to the United States with all ny life,
Therefore pleasse have mercy on uy true and heartfelt ery of mind aend



render your far reaching benmevolent hands in eancelling my eitizenship
remunciation, With tears I pray to the Heaven,

Now I shasll tell you how loyslly my relstives are serviag the
United States Govermment,

My brether-in-law (my younger sister's husband), Yamaki, with three
other brothers from Hawaii sre serving loyally i the United States armed
forces. Particilarly, the eldest one was wounded seriously on the Italiasn
front but without losing his 1ife returned to Hawsii recently,

My husband 'a eousin, named Sato, a Nebrasks resident, whe weni te
the European battle front soon after the outbreak of war and receiving
e serious wound is &t presemt reeuperating in a hospital, :

My step sister's husband, named Monkswa, voluntered for the
Armed service before the outbreak of the war and was seriously wounded
in Italy and after recuperating returned to Hawaii,

Furtheruore my step~brother is in the service and st present is
in Germany, I his letter he mentioned a fact that he has petitioned for
my family's release through his commanding officer, snd he has alse taken
& similer step through the American Red Cross, Realizing the faithful
brotherly love in his exerting sll of his efforts in our behalf, I
¢en find no words to thank him but te ery from gratitude,

.

At this time realizing my shorteowing, I am truly repentant
towards my brothers and relatives.

30 as mentioned alove, Gomprehending the fact th & my relatives
have been absolutely loysl to America, please render your greatest
merey regarding my request for the cancellation of uy eitizenship

;minthm Agein I beg and pray threugh the departed Saint up in the
eaven, '

Sinecerely,



WRA for their informetion without comment, it would still be possible to

point out that there is nothing seditious in the letters. Because of the
conment, however, WRA could and would in all probability refuse to argue

ebout the letters but would merely point to what the Immigrstion Service

had said.

In view of these various facts, I come sadly to the conclusion
that WRA has won this particular round and that the best thing to do about
the Hankey-Yoshiyama correspondence is nothing.

LA C R L AL R N N N N Y R R R T T I T TS

You may be interested in a curious phenomenon now taking place

at Tule Lake. Quite a stream of applications for cancelation of renuncistion
of citizenship are coming in. My guess is that we have already had more

than 30. Some of them are perfectly bare requests for cancelation but others
are fairly extended statements including reference to social pressures and
admissions that the renunciants had mede terrible mistakes. Some of the
language in some of the letters has enough of the WRA jargon in it, particularly
about pressure groups, that I am not wholly sure that some one such as Lou
may not be handing out ideas as to how to phrase the letters. In any event,
the Attorney General has approved almost all the renunciztions and once the
application is approved, aside from what we might desire to do, we have no
legal authority whatever to cancel the renunciztion. I am not sure whether
we have any once the form is signed by the renuncient but once the Attorney
General has approved it the matter is entirely irrevocable. We are informing
- each person who requests cancelation of this fact.

Yours,

53¢,
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December 11, 1945

Dear Rosalle:

I was glad to hear from you, Just one word about
any testifying that you may do in court: You understand,
of course, that your connectlion with this study is not
to be mentioned either in any documents you may submit,
or in any verbal testimony.

Kurihara wrote a very nlce 1life history for us,

I suppose you have seen the various interviews that your
friend, Tom Yoshiyama, has given,

We have had Ceorge Kuratoml down here for some
time, and Dick is going up to Tule Lake this week to
verify certain data and to stralghten out inconsistencles.

Regards from all,

Sincerely yours,

Dorothy Swaine Thomas




DST has:
Hankey's T.L. Report (1)
n n n ( 2 )
March, 1945 to May, 1945
January, 1945 to February, 1945
December, 1944
October, 1944 to November, 1944
September, 1944
July, 1944 to August, 1944
May, 1944 to June, 1944
Report - T.L. #3, mlscellaneous
n n #2 n
n n #1 n
Field Notes, February, March, April
Report, Chapters 8,0, Part 4

i - PR R P |

® 2, 3, December, 1943, April, 1944

Comments on

miscellaneous




February 24, 1946

Dear Dorothy,

I have just received a letter from Tozier, chief of the
reports div ision of WRA in Washington esking for informetion
regarding Joe Kurihara's "thinking during his time at Tule Take
-- his sttitude towsrd the militaristic pro-Japan extremists, his
rationalization »f his det‘rm;natiwn not to waver in his decisinn
to go back to Japan, his attitude toward the sdministretion,"”

ozier states that Spicer pgave him my nome and thet Spicer

be 1ieves I will share (the WRA's) irterest in putting this
poignant and tragic history before some of this country's
citizeng,."

For a number of persona) reasipons wellknown to vou, I
have 1ittle inclinetion to divulge thig informetion., Tn the
first place, muoh of it was confidential; in the second, I
do not have the time to do & really careful job, On ths
othey hand T have no par tioular yen to offend t he WRA and
would be glad te help Spilcer out,

T would appreciate your oddidce, It wil)l be sesy enough
to say that T got all my meterial from Jog under the cromise
thet T reveal mnothing. On the other hend, if you think it wise,
I can give them some carefully censored attitudes,

Work is progressing splendidly here. T batted my courses
around as of yore and have been aprroabhed for a possible
Jjob mext yesr, as teaching sssistant, I was delirhted to hesp
from George Kuratomi thet the confused portiong of the report
were straightened out, George end his wife were distinotly
scared by the "outside" but I reckon they'1ll make out,

I trust thet everybody is well and hapcy (even though
worked to & frazzle). Please give my kindest regards to
Dick end Mrsg., Wilson,

Best regards,

o
‘&)W f

P. S. If you have Joe Kuriharo's sister's addr ss in Hewaig

Would you send it on to me. He gave it to me but T 1left it in
Perkeley among my letters. I'd like to write to him, Tozier
states thot he hes written beck that "he mede o terrible mistaks "




February 28, 1046

Dear Rosalie:

In regard to Tozler's request, the proper thing
for you to do is to tell him to write directly to me.
As you know, all materlals that you collected were
collected for the Study and therefore nothing can be

released by you individually, but must be referred
to me for considerat ion.

The first volume has developed in quite a
different way from our first conceptlon. We are using
your fleld notes extensively, but we are also using
reports and fileld notes prepared by various other people
on the Study to such an extent that 1t 1s necessary to
put thelr names on the title page also, Since the only
person who has particlpated with me in the coneeptualiza-
tion and the actual writing of the book 1s Dick, he
appears as cc-author, Enclosed 1s a copy of the title
page in which you willl see the new set-up. 1In a sectlon
called "Acknowledgments, reference will, of course, be
made to the extensiveness of your fleld contribution,

All here send regards,

Sinecerely yours,

Dorothy Swaline Thomas

Enclosure

P.S. The address of Kurihara's sister 1s:

Mrs. T. Nekahara
1022 Morris Lane
Honolulu, T.H,




March 3, 1946

Dear Dorothy,

Thanks for the news regarding the Lirst volume, Naturaiily,
I was somewhnt dissppointed but in view of the fact tht other
reports are going into the works, it svpeers 1ike the fair thing
to do.

Have you seen the interesting orticle in the raper regerding
a deported Japene-e Wor 1d War veteran who petit ioned for a wyrit
of habeus corpus after evecuation and is now apoealing tn the
United Stotes Army authorities beocauge his fellow deportees have
informed him "he was marked for desth"? T'11 het my dast cent
this is our friend Kinzo Wakayame, So for ag T know, no otheyr
habeus corpus petitinrer was a veteran or an erpatriste, T hope
thott someday, when things quiet down, Kurihare will tell me
what hapoened to desr Kinzo, Since he was refused protection and
returned to the barracks, I'm not optimistie about his chenches

of remainicg alive. Joe and a lot of other peonle who 1istensd

to Wakayam's speeches must be med as hops. If the deportees

continue to be confied to barracks, I would Mot be surpr ised if
Tachibana and some of his pals wers not leading extreme ly
uncomfortabla 1lives,

I referred Toziar to you as you surrested,

Sincere ly yours,




July 3, 1946

Dear Dorothy,

Iwas so engrossed in studying for my Master's exsams that
I neglected to scknowledea th receipt of the doouments., I'm
sorry, but I got so tied up in the exes that T didn't ocome up
for air for a month. They are over now - and T hear I
meshed tl m to bits,

I've made a gond start on my thesis, spent a gzreat des] of

thought on preliminary orpanization and haven't resched e snag
yet. TI'17 resch them though, I heve no doubt.

I note thet there is some materia] you did not send - the
1ast chapter of my draft of the events of January and February 1945
and the minutes. I don't think I've got a cooy of the Gila
segrepgation report either, but I1'11 have to check through again
to make sure. Tn any case, I don't need any of this matarial
right now, though I thihk I may need the interviews in the
segregation report before T findsh. My plan is te go along, ret
the thing in shepe snd then 1dt you know what specific things
I mey need, when I'm certein I need them,

(I don'"t have Opler's reports either - I must lave left
my oopies upsteirs. T doubt if I'11 ever have any use for them,
but they're 2 lways good for a laugh,)

If the thesis goars along as it hs the last ten days,
I'11 probably get it in good first draft shape in another
ionth,

Id3dn't reslly have to mrite a Master's the sis, hecause
the faoulty expressed the willingness to acosot the Tules Take
report instead. I didm't think, however, that you would have
approved giving this report to the ol bors, so I sque lohed
the idea,

Best wishes on "Salvage" and best regards to Dick.

Sincerely vours,
L)
@G\wl—
P. 8. By "stuff" on Gilm T mean the large boX under the table

which fsces Mrs, Wilson. It contzins my Gila Notes, repnrts on
the Commuinity Courcil and God knows what ¢ lse.




July 23, 1946

Dear Jimny,

I was very glad to hear from you. I guess our letterg must
bave crossed, I received the Gila material and thank you very
much for the trouble of sending it.

I'm gled to hear that youfre being properly supported.
It's quite a gift end causes me to lose myself ih thought as
to whether I'm not dumb in having to push myself slong. Hmmmme.
Oh well, I can't comrlain since I'm pretty good at the
academic graft - in fact, some fellow students call me a
precticed radetesr, I'1l remember the sex techhique inmy
thesis. Frankly, though it's not of major importance except
with lesders - they're suckers for the weaker sex, My difficulty
is expdaining the efficsoy of the technigue wHimk in lanpguace
whioh is sufficient ly adademic., I woubdn't say thot it's dangerous
if used too often; rather it's dangerous when it's used with
too mach force, One must always keep ones eye on & convenient
door or window so as to be gble to make a rapid escape.

T'm also glad to heaer that your work is coming olong.,
I wish you 811 success. i

I'mworking 1ike a dog and there isn't mueh to tell.
Part of the time I work on my thesis and part on the job that
I have which now condddts of 1ittle more than checking Xkm
and proof reading the new syllabas for the course I'm going to
agsist in and proof reading new articles written for it.
It seems to me that my boss could hire himself a trained
proof -resder, but T have the advantare of heing familiar with
the outlendish names of the anthropologists and the mteriail
in general., I'm really organizing my tesis for-a change and
pend more time thinking then writing. I'm progressing though
and should complete it in another month., After that I'1l1l A
start reading for those Vaster's examinations T haven't pxaussd
taken yet. If I'm lucky I'11 have my . A. by ths end of this
year ,

As I wrote in my 1sst lstter I may néed a few quotes and
things from doouments T don't heve here. I shall maik though
until I'm certain and then meke & comprehensive 1ist. It won't
be much, I'm sure,

T saw Nikki for a few hours Saturday hefore 1ast, She wag
just as spunky as alweys. I'm hoping for a longer visit with her
when she rsturns from lake Forest, She thinks it's hot here -
but it reslly isn't.

Regerds to Dick, Hattie and Dorothy - also to Mrs. Wilson.

T SO




September 11, 1946

Dear Rosalle:

As you may have heard, Professor Chernin has returned to
the University. He and Professor Alkin and myself are working
on & plan which we hope will result in the publication of the
material collected by Morton on a collaborative or joint author
basis involving Morton and Professor Chernin and possibly
Professor Alkin. Morton, however, hes a number of misconceptions
about the way in whlch materials collected for a study of this
sort are used. In this connection, we have reports that he has
been circulating storlies about the misappropriation of his
material and that he has also used your name as & person similarly
mistreated, I am convinced thaet it is quite out of character for
you to have allowed your name to be used in such a context, and
I wonder whether you can give us any light on the sltuation from
your standpolnt,

The latest incident is in brief as follows: Professor
Chernin has recelved a letter from a person for whom he has high
regard in an academic institution in the Chlcago area., He has
"been warned" to keep out of the study and has been told that we
are not only taking what properly belongs to Morton, but that we
have "swiped mater%al belonging to one, Rosalie Hankey." Professor
Chernin, who 1s not only a gentlemen and a scholar but very well-
balanced mentally and emotlionally, has referred the matter to
Professor Alkin and myself,

With due regard to your proper skepticism about tracing
down the source of a rumor, I should be deeply appreclative if you
can tell me how this fantastic story has arisen, The story as it
has reached me in documentary form verges on what ecould legally be
classified as "slander,"

Sincerely'youra,

Dorothy Swaine Thomas




September 23, 1946

Dear Dorothy,

I have just returmed from a brief trip to Washington to
read various Community Anelyst documents in order to be able to
make somé eomparative remarks in my thesis. I found your letter
waiting for me. T am sorry, but I don't know how the rumors you
mention got started. So far as I know, 4 am not acoumsinted with
the anonymous person who wrote to My, Chernin and so eannot
cheok on him or his eontsets. I've been very busy this summer
and did not know of the detsils of the matter between Chernin

and Grodzins. If I run onto anything definite, I'11 let vou
know,

I now hoave my matedial in suoh shape thet I have a
pretty good idea of the doouments I need in order to give
cartain statements more validity. As T have written you
previously, I have waited until I oah 1ist everything at once,

My needs are as follows:

1. If it is not too much trouble I'd 1like the figures you
fave decided to use for (a) how many segregees moved into Tule
1ake ih Sept. amd Qot, of 1943; (b) how many 01d Tuleans
remained; (¢) how meny 01d Tuleans refused to register and
remained; (d) what was the all over population of Hila in the
summer of 1943 and what was the population of the Butte Camp in
that period,

2, A copy of the verbatim statements secured in Gils before
segregation, These, I believe, were oontained in a paper separate
from the "Segregation Report" per se. They are titled, "Verbatim
Statements on Segregetion" or something like that,

3, I'd 1ike @ oopy of that M¥S by Kur ihara in whid» he
described the speech he made at Manzanar when he debated with the
JACT, et the time of Military Registration. A1l I really need is
the stetement he made about e vacuees trying to get out of camp
if they thought they were Amer jcan Citizens,

4. T1'd 8lso 1ike 8 copy of the April "Akashi" petition and
the Administrative release denying its authentiocky.

5. In working through my notes I have baen appalled T.Jy t‘r.m
amount of pazes I left in Berkeley. At first I could not imagine
how this had hsppened and then I remembered that T _Dull_ed all
notes on factionalism for you from my own set, so as not to
disrupt the set you have, This probab}y asccounts for the
greater number of the 100 plus pages missing. For my persent
the sis, however, I need only @ few of these missing pares, They

are:
1944 ==
June 20, p. 9

Oct. 6, PPe 2,3 et
Oct. 9: Pe © ;nd any subsequent Oct. O pages, if sud exist




2,

Oct. 16, pp. 5=7 inclusive.
Qot, 23, pp. 3-6, ino,
Ooct. 24, p. 2.

Qct. 30, ppe 385 ino,

Nov. 6, pp. 1-3 ineo,

Nov. 9, pp. 1,8

¥»

Deo. 11, pp. 12,

er, 7, p. 5 and any subsedquent Mar 7 pages.
(This page may be incorrectly titled May 7.)

April 79 18, pp. 2 and any subsequent Ap. 18 pages.

It is possible that the pages I pulled are gtill around in
a8 body. If they have been lost and you do rot wish to break up
the cory of notes now in your possession or have Myr.s Wilson
type them for me, let me know, and I will look into the
possibllity of having them microfilmed.

Please let e know st your earliest oonvenience if you
oan send me the se documents.

My thesis goes very well, but I think it willtake me ay
1itt 16 more time to get it in fina 1 shape,

Regards to 8ll,

P. S. I hesr from Ruratomi thet he's working on a potatoe farm.
Such are theironies of 1life,

g -




September 25, 1946

Dear Rosallie:

In reply to your letter of Seftemhor 23, it 1s gratify-
ing to note that you are not responsible for rumors regarding

the "misuse" or "misappropriation" of materials collected by
various research assistants for the Evacuatlion and Resettlement
Study. Rumors of this sort do no good to those circulating

them and no lasting harm to those about whom they are circulated.
Rather they reflect the incapacity of many soclal scientlsts to
comprehend and abide by agreements explicit in large-scale co-
operative projects. In this connection, I refer you to an article
by Philip Hauser in the last 1ssue of the American Sociological
Review, with which I am sure you will agree.

We are sending, under separate cover, all of the duplicate
pages that we have of your fileld notes. These, I am sure, will
cover the material that you are interested in for your thesis.

In regard to your question about the figures we have used in the
first volume: there were approximately 6,000 old Tuleans; 8,600
transferees, in the early segregation movements, and some 3,600

{n February and May primarily from Manzanar, Rohwer and Jerome.

The figures that you want on Glla can only Dbe found in the official
WRA reports which are accessible in libraries. We find no paper
separate from your segregation report on Glla, Verbatim statements
are included in a report called "Chronological Report of Segrega-
tion," 26 pages; "Segregation at Glla,' dated July 26, 12 pages;
"Misecellaneous Notes from Hikida, and various other informants
running to 79 pages. We have only a single copy of this material
and assume that you, of course, have the dupllcate. The Ikashi
petition and so on will be pubiished in full in our Volume I

which will be off the press on November 15. We have no extra
coples of the petition., We are unable to identify the passage

that you mentioned from Kurihara. ;

Sincerely yours,

Dorothy Swaine Thomas




